TGEGKXGF."3214514235"3347548."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

V.

ZACHARIAH DORSETT,

Respondent.

Case No. SC13-310

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES J. CARNEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 475246

JEANINE GERMANOWICZ ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 0019607

Office of the Attorney General 1515 N. Flagler Drive, Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Primary E-Mail: CrimAppWPB@myfloridalegal.com (561)837-5000 (561)837-5108

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This brief will refer to Respondent as such, Defendant, or by proper name, e.g., "Dorsett." Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution below; the brief will refer to Petitioner as such, the prosecution, or the State. Reference to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R;" reference to the transcripts will be by the symbol "T;" reference to any supplemental record or transcripts will be by the symbols "SR" or "ST;" and reference to the Initial Brief, Answer Brief, and Reply Brief filed in the district court will be by the symbols "IB," "AB," and "RB" respectively, all followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. For example page one of volume two of a third supplemental record would appear as (3SR2 1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, summarized the basic facts as follows:

The defendant was driving a heavy pickup truck northbound on AlA. According to the defendant, he had his windows rolled up, windshield wipers and air conditioner on, and was listening to the radio at full volume. He saw a lot of people running across the street from the beach as it began to rain. The people had cleared the street as he drove through the intersection.

According to the defendant, he was unaware that a young teenager had lost control of his skateboard and fell as he crossed the road, hitting the truck's

passenger side undercarriage. The defendant continued traveling north at a normal rate of speed and did not stop. He was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol, and had no hearing or health problems.

Law enforcement stopped the defendant approximately three miles from the accident. When questioned by law enforcement as to why he did not stop, the defendant explained:

The bottom line is if I would have known I had hit somebody, I would have definitely stopped this truck; that's the bottom line. I didn't—there was no—at all but the radio and me driving; I didn't hear anything else, nothing was going on. I just found out about this person getting struck by my truck that I have no idea I had struck.

The State charged the defendant with leaving the scene of a crash involving injury. He entered a not guilty plea and proceeded to trial. There, the officer who stopped the defendant testified that the victim was on his rear end in the crosswalk when he was hit by the truck. The victim went underneath the truck and was dragged almost ninety feet. There was no evidence of braking, skid marks, brake lights, evasive steering, or a change in speed. There was no damage to the front of the truck.

Several witnesses testified that they saw the accident. One saw the truck's wheels go over the victim's body and heard the truck ride over him. A worker testified that he heard the accident from one of the upper floor patios of a building where he was installing windows; he saw the victim skateboard into the street, go underneath the truck, and be dragged down the street. His co-worker testified that he saw the skateboard being spit out from under the truck's right rear tire and heard the skateboard crack in two. He also saw the back right tire of the truck actually raise up or jump up.

Another eyewitness testified that she was in a car at the light when she heard a loud noise at impact through her closed window. Another witness testified that he was about seventy-five to one hundred yards away from the road when he heard a loud thud and the sound of cracking wood. Yet another witness testified that she saw the victim fall off the skateboard and hit the right side of the truck.

A second officer testified that he pulled the defendant's vehicle over within minutes of the accident. The defendant immediately jumped out of the truck and appeared very nervous. He was visibly shaking and stuttering. The defendant repeatedly asked why he had been stopped. According to the second officer, the truck's windows were up, but the radio was not on.

The defense offered the following special jury instruction FN1 at the charge conference:

To prove the crime of Leaving the Scene of an Accident, the State must prove the following four elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

1: [The defendant] was the driver of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to any person.

2: [The defendant] knew that he was involved in an accident.

- 3:(a) [The defendant] knew of the resulting injury to the person; or
- (b) reasonably should have known of the resulting injury to the person from the nature of the accident.
- 4:(a) [The defendant] willfully failed to stop at the scene of the accident or as close to the accident as possible and remain there until he had given "identifying information"...; or

(b) [The defendant] willfully failed to render "reasonable assistance" to the injured person if such treatment appeared to be necessary or was requested by the injured person.

. . . .

(Emphasis added).

The defense also requested the following special jury instruction:

The Defendant's knowledge that his car caused the personal injuries to [the victim] is a necessary element of the offense of failing to remain at the scene of an accident under Florida Statute Section 316.027.

Actual knowledge of the accident is an essential element of this crime, for one cannot "willfully" leave an accident without awareness that an accident has occurred.

Further, the State must prove that [the defendant] had actual or constructive knowledge of the resulting injury to [the victim]—that is, [the defendant] either knew of [the victim's] resulting injury, or reasonably should have known of such injury from the nature of the accident.

(Emphasis added). The trial court declined the special instructions and instead gave the standard jury instruction, which did not include the emphasized language. Fla. Std. Jury Inst. (Crim.) 28.4.

<u>Dorsett v. State</u>, 4D11-1530, 38 Fla. L. Weekly D233, 2013 WL 331602, *1-2 (Fla. 4th DCA January 30, 2013).

Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases §28.4, Leaving The Scene of Accident Involving Death or Injury, as read by the judge, states:

To prove the crime of leaving the scene of a crash involving injury, the state must prove the following four elements beyond a reasonable doubt: Zachariah Dorsett was the driver of a vehicle involved in a crash resulting in injury to any person; number two, Zachariah Dorsett knew or should have known that he involved in a crash; number three, Zachariah Dorsett knew or should have known of the injury to the person; and number four, Zachariah Dorsett willfully failed to stop at the scene of the crash or as close to the crash as possible and remain there until he had been - given identifying information to the injured person and to any police officer investigating the crash, or Zachariah Dorsett willfully failed to render reasonable assistance to the injured person if such treatment appeared to be necessary or was requested by the injured person. If the state proves that the defendant willfully failed to give any part if the identifying information or willfully failed to give reasonable assistance, the state satisfies element of the offense. Identifying information means the name, address, vehicle registration number, and if of available and requested the exhibition defendant's license or permit to drive. Reasonable assistance includes carrying or making arrangements to carry the injured person to a physician or hospital for medical treatment. Willfully means intentionally and purposely.

(R11 990) (Emphasis added)

Ultimately, the jury found Respondent guilty. The trial court adjudicated Respondent guilty and sentenced him to twenty-four months in prison.

Respondent appealed his conviction to the Fourth District in case number 4D11-1530. He raised a number of issues. The Fourth

District found merit in only one issue, the assertion that the trial court erred in not giving the requested special jury instructions. The Fourth District concluded that actual knowledge of the accident was required and that the jury should have been instructed of same. The Fourth District therefore reversed Respondent's conviction and remanded to the trial court for a new trial. However, recognizing that this was a case of first impression in Florida, the appellate court certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

In a prosecution for violation of section 316.027, Florida Statutes (2006), should the standard jury instruction require **actual** knowledge of the crash?

Dorsett, 2013 WL 331602 at *1. (Emphasis in original).

Petitioner, the State of Florida, petitioned this Court for discretionary review and the instant proceeding followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in declining to give the requested special jury instructions where the standard instructions given accurately reflected the law applicable to the facts of this case, as per this Court's decision in State v.
Mancuso, 652 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1995). Therefore, this Court must quash the decision of the Fourth District and reinstate the Respondent's conviction.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: WHETHER, IN A PROSECUTION FOR VIOLATION OF SECTION 316.027, FLORIDA STATUTES (2006), ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF THE ACCIDENT IS REQUIRED?

In a prosecution for leaving the scene of an accident with injury, the law requires only that the defendant knew or should have known of the accident. Therefore, the appellate court's conclusion that the law requires actual knowledge of the accident, and that the jury must be instructed of same, was erroneous. The standard jury instructions given by the judge accurately stated the law. This Court must quash the appellate court's decision and reinstate the respondent's conviction for leaving the scene of an accident with injury.

A. Standard of Review.

Respondent asserted below, and the appellate court agreed, that the trial court erred in declining to give his requested special jury instructions and giving the standard jury instructions instead. The standard of review applied to a trial court's decision to give or withhold a jury instruction is normally abuse of discretion. See <u>James v. State</u>, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997) (noting that a trial court has wide discretion in instructing the jury). See also <u>Booker v. State</u>, 514 So. 2d 1079, 1085 (Fla. 1987) (defining "abuse of discretion" -- discretion is abused only where no reasonable man

could take the view adopted by the trial court). However, the issue upon which the appellate court's opinion turns, whether the statute requires actual knowledge of the crash itself such that the jury should be instructed accordingly, is a pure question of law which is to be reviewed de novo. Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000) (providing that "the standard of review for a pure question of law is de novo"). "The interpretation of a statute is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to the de novo standard of review." Kasischke v. State, 991 So. 2d 803, 807 (Fla. 2008), citing Kephart v. Hadi, 932 So. 2d 1086, 1089 (Fla. 2006), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1216, 127 S.Ct. 1268, 167 L.Ed.2d 92 (2007). See also, Murray v. Mariner Health, 994 So. 2d 1051, 1056 (Fla. 2008) ("Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review."). Therefore, this Court must apply de novo review.

B. The Merits.

Respondent asserted below that the trial court abused its discretion in giving the standard jury instructions because the law requires actual knowledge of the accident but the standard jury instructions permit a conviction upon proof that the respondent knew or should have known of the accident. The appellate court agreed, concluding that the crime of leaving the scene of an accident with injuries requires actual knowledge of the accident itself, and, therefore, Respondent's special jury

instructions regarding same should have been given. With all due respect to the appellate court, however, this interpretation of the statute is erroneous.

Section 316.027(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2006), defines the offense of leaving the scene of an accident with personal injury:

The driver of any vehicle involved in a crash occurring on public or private property that results in injury of any person must immediately stop the vehicle at the scene of the crash, or as close thereto as possible, and must remain at the scene of the crash until he or she has fulfilled the requirements of s. 316.062. Any person who willfully violates this paragraph commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

Section 316.062, Florida Statutes (2006), defines the duty to give information and render aid as follows:

(1) The driver of any vehicle involved in a crash resulting in injury to or death of any person or damage to any vehicle or other property which is driven or attended by any person shall give his or her name, address, and the registration number of the vehicle he or she is driving, and shall upon request and if available exhibit his or her license or permit to drive, to any person injured in such crash or to the driver or occupant of or person attending any vehicle or other property damaged in the crash and shall give such information and, upon request, exhibit such license or permit to any police officer at the scene of the crash or who is investigating the crash and shall render to any person injured in the crash reasonable assistance, including the carrying, or the making of arrangements for the carrying, of such person to a physician, surgeon, or hospital medical or surgical treatment if it is apparent that treatment is necessary, or if such carrying is requested by the injured person.

- (2) In the event none of the persons specified are in condition to receive the information to which they otherwise would be entitled under subsection (1), and no police officer is present, the driver of any vehicle involved in such crash, after fulfilling all other requirements of s. 316.027 and subsection (1), insofar as possible on his or her part to be performed, shall forthwith report the crash to the nearest office of a duly authorized police authority and submit thereto the information specified in subsection (1).
- (3) The statutory duty of a person to make a report or give information to a law enforcement officer making a written report relating to a crash shall not be construed as extending to information which would violate the privilege of such person against self-incrimination.
- (4) A violation of this section is a noncriminal traffic infraction, punishable as a nonmoving violation as provided in chapter 318.

Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases §28.4, Leaving The Scene of Accident Involving Death or Injury, as read by the judge, states:

To prove the crime of leaving the scene of a crash involving injury, the state must prove the following four elements beyond a reasonable doubt: Zachariah Dorsett was the driver of a vehicle involved in a crash resulting in injury to any person; number two, Zachariah Dorsett knew or should have known that he was involved in a crash; number three, Zachariah Dorsett knew or should have known of the injury to the person; and number four, Zachariah Dorsett willfully failed to stop at the scene of the crash or as close to the crash as possible and remain there until he had been - given identifying information to the injured person and to any police officer investigating the

crash, or Zachariah Dorsett willfully failed to render reasonable assistance to the injured person if such treatment appeared to be necessary or was requested by the injured person. If the state proves that the defendant willfully failed to give any part if the identifying information or willfully failed to give reasonable assistance, the state satisfies this element of the offense. Identifying information means the name, address, vehicle registration number, and if available and requested the exhibition of the defendant's license or permit to drive. Reasonable assistance includes carrying or making arrangements to carry the injured person to a physician or hospital for medical treatment. Willfully means intentionally and purposely.

(R11 990) (Emphasis added). The trial court specifically rejected Respondent's interpretation of the statute and used the standard jury instructions provided by this Court to instruct the jury on the charge of leaving the scene of an accident involving death or injury. Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747, 755 (Fla. 2001).

This case turns on statutory interpretation. Therefore, it is useful to set forth some general principles applicable to statutory interpretation. The goal of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislature's intent. State v. Gaulden, 1D11-4288, __ So. 3d __, 37 Fla. L. Weekly D867, 2012 WL 1216263, *1 (Fla. 1st DCA April 12, 2012), citing Kasischke v. State, 991 So. 2d 803, 807 (Fla. 2008) ("When construing a statute, we strive to effectuate the Legislature's intent."). To determine that intent, we look first to the statute's plain language. Kasischke, 991 So. 2d at 807, citing Borden v. East-

European Ins. Co., 921 So. 2d 587, 595 (Fla. 2006). "[W]hen the statute is clear and unambiguous, courts will not look behind the statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction to ascertain intent." Kasischke, 991 So. 2d at 807, quoting Borden, 921 So. 2d at 595 and Daniels v. Fla. Dep't of Health, 898 So. 2d 61, 64 (Fla. 2005). Where a statute is ambiguous, the court may turn to legislative history and to other evidence of the purposes behind a statute. E.g., Kasischke, 991 So. 2d at 808-09. The court may also turn to canons of statutory construction such as "the doctrine of the last antecedent, under which 'relative and qualifying words, phrases and clauses are to be applied to the words or phrase immediately preceding, and are not to be construed as extending to, or including, others more remote." Kasischke, 991 So. 2d at 811, quoting City of St. Petersburg v. Nasworthy, 751 So. 2d 772, 774 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). The rule of lenity is another canon of statutory construction but it is a canon of last resort, only to be applied where, after consulting traditional canons of statutory construction, a statute remains ambiguous. Kasischke, 991 So. 2d at 814, comparing favorably, Bautista v. State, 863 So. 2d 1180, 1185 n. 4 (Fla. 2003), in which the Court recognized that the rule of lenity does not apply where legislative intent to the contrary is clear.

It is also useful to set forth some general principles applicable to jury instructions. The Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction to approve jury instructions for use in the courts this state and may do so by adopting standard jury instructions for civil and criminal cases. See Perriman v. State, 731 So. 2d 1243, 1246 (Fla. 1999). The Florida Standard Jury Instructions were designed to eliminate or minimize juror confusion concerning the applicable law in criminal cases. Id. standard instructions should be used to the applicable in the judgment of the trial court. Kearse v. State, 662 So. 2d 677, 682 (Fla. 1995). Where a Florida Standard Jury Instruction adequately apprizes the jury as to the law and evidence, it is proper for the trial court to give the standard instruction rather than a special or requested instruction. See Carpenter v. State, 785 So. 2d 1182, 1200 (Fla. Significantly, standard jury instructions are presumed to be correct and are preferred over special instructions. Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747, 755 (Fla. 2001). See also Mogavero v. State, 744 So. 2d 1048, 1050 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (trial court should not give instructions which are confusing) and Butler v. State, 493 So. 2d 451, 452 (Fla. 1986) (court should not give instructions that are confusing or misleading).

Here, the standard instructions were correct and adequately stated the law as embodied by Section 316.027. See Johnson v.

State, 484 So. 2d 1347, 1350 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 494 So. 2d 1151 (Fla. 1986) (trial court properly denied requested instruction where it was covered by standard instructions). The first part of the statute is written in mandatory language:

The driver of any vehicle involved in a crash occurring on public or private property that results in injury of any person must immediately stop the vehicle at the scene of the crash, or as close thereto as possible, and must remain at the scene of the crash until he or she has fulfilled the requirements of s. 316.062.

§ 316.027(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2006). The standard jury instructions add the requirement that a defendant "knew or should have known" of the accident and of the injury. Fla. Std. Jur. Ins. 28.4

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