IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC13-310

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

٧.

ZACHARIAH DORSETT Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ZACHARIAH DORSETT

JEANETTE BELLON, ESQ.

Fla. Bar No.: 45351

Quintairos, Prieto, Wood & Boyer, P.A.

One East Broward Blvd., Suite 1400

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

Phone: 954.523.7008

Fax: 954.523.7009

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As will be discussed in greater length below, this Court should answer the certified question, "In a prosecution for violation of section 316.027, Florida Statutes (2006), should the standard jury instruction require actual knowledge of the crash?" in the affirmative. More specifically, this Court has already held in State v. Mancuso 652 So. 2d 370, 371 (Fla. 1995), that §316.027, Fla. Stat., creates only one crime, the felony of "willfully" leaving the scene of an accident and that

an essential element of §316.027, Fla. Stat., is knowledge that an accident occurred, because one cannot "willfully" leave an accident without awareness that an accident has occurred. Additionally, out-of-state case law interpreting other state's hit and run statutes have held that actual knowledge of the defendant being involved in an accident must be proven by the State in order to convict the defendant. Therefore, this Court must affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, hold that actual knowledge of the accident is required to convict under §316.027, Fla. Stat., and remand the matter for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The Fourth District Court of Appeal certified a question of great public importance to this Court, which this Court then took discretionary jurisdiction over to decide. Fla. Const. Art. 5§3(b)(4). In deciding a certified question, this Court has held that: "[b]ecause of the certification we are authorized to examine the record of the trial court and measure the correctness of the decision of the District Court by our own conclusions based upon such examination. <u>Carraway v. Revell Motor Co.</u>, Fla. 1959, 116 So. 2d 16." <u>James v. Keene</u>, 133 So. 2d 297, 298 (Fla. 1961).

B. Merits

At issue in this matter is whether the standard jury instruction for §316.027, Fla. Stat., accurately reflects the appropriate *mens rea* needed to convict a

defendant. Florida Statute §316.027, Crash involving death or personal injuries, provides:

The driver of any vehicle involved in a crash occurring on public or private property that results in injury of any person must immediately stop the vehicle at the scene of the crash, or as close thereto as possible, and must remain at the scene of the crash until he or she has fulfilled the requirements of s. 316.062. Any person who willfully violates this paragraph commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s.775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. (emphasis added).

This Court has held that §316.027, Fla. Stat., creates only one crime, the felony of "willfully" leaving the scene of an accident involving injury. State v. Mancuso 652 So. 2d 370, 371 (Fla. 1995) citing Stanfill v. State, 384 So. 2d 141, 143 (Fla. 1980). Thus, this Court has "implicitly recognized that **knowledge of an accident** is an essential element of §316.027, for one cannot "willfully" leave an accident without awareness that an accident has occurred." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). However, the Standard Jury Instruction for §316.027, Fla. Stat., provides:

28.4 LEAVING THE SCENE OF A CRASH INVOLVING INJURY §316.027(1), Fla. Stat.

To prove the crime of Leaving the Scene of an Accident, the State must prove the following four elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1: Defendant was the driver of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to any person.
- 2: Defendant **knew or should have known** that he/she was involved in a crash.

- 3: Defendant knew or should have known of the injury to the person.
- 4: Defendant willfully failed to stop at the scene of the accident or as close to the accident as possible and remain there until he/she had given "identifying information" to the injured person and to any police officer investigating the crash.

Or

Defendant willfully failed to render "reasonable assistance" to the injured person if such treatment appeared to be necessary or was requested by the injured person.

If the State proves that the defendant willfully failed to give any part of the "identifying information" or willfully failed to give reasonable assistance, the State satisfies this element of the offense.

"Identifying information" means name, address, vehicle registration number, and, if available and requested, the exhibition of the defendant's license or permit to drive.

"Reasonable assistance" includes carrying or making arrangements to carry the injured person to a physician or hospital for medical treatment.

"Willfully" means intentionally or purposefully.

Even though this Court held that knowledge of being involved in an accident is an essential element of §316.027, Fla. Stat., the standard jury instruction allows a conviction if a defendant "should have known" that he/she was involved in an accident. This "should have known" language does not accurately reflect the appropriate *mens rea* needed to convict under §316.027, Fla. Stat., and thus,

lessens the State's burden of proof to an impermissible civil standard (i.e. negligence) burden of proof. When analyzing the history §316.027, Fla. Stat., and out-of-state case law which interpret criminal statutes regarding leaving the scene of an accident as requiring a defendant to have actual knowledge of a crash/accident, it is Respondent's position that the "should have known" language regarding whether a defendant knew he/she was involved in a crash was erroneously placed in the standard jury instruction in the first instance.

i. The history of §316.027, Fla. Stat., and the creation of its standard jury instruction.

Prior to 1995, Florida did not have a standard jury instruction regarding the criminal offense of §316.027, Fla. Stat. Because there was no such standard instruction, the Fourth District Court in the case State v. Mancuso, 652 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1995), certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court: "In a prosecution for violation of section 316.027, Fla. Stat., must the State show that the Defendant knew or should have known of the injury or death; and the jury be so instructed?" Thus, the certified question in Mancuso related to what would become the third prong of the standard jury instruction (whether the State must show that a defendant knew or should have known of the injury or death), and not the second prong of the standard jury instruction (whether the State must show that a defendant had actual knowledge of the crash), which is at issue here.

In Mancuso, this Court relied upon State v. Tennant, 173 W.Va. 627 (W.Va.1984), when it held that "knowledge of an accident is an essential element of section 316.027, for one cannot "willfully" leave an accident without awareness that an accident occurred." The Mancuso Court focused on the knowledge element as it relates to the defendant's knowledge of injury, and held that a defendant must have either actual or constructive knowledge of the injury to support a conviction for leaving the scene of an accident resulting in injury. However, and pertinent to this appeal, this Court did not decide in Mancuso whether a driver charged with leaving scene of an accident must have actual knowledge of being involved in an accident. Thus, the Petitioner is patently wrong in its Initial Brief when it states that the §316.027 standard jury instruction is correct and accurately states the law (based upon Mancuso) as applicable to the facts of this case, because this issue was never addressed by the Court in Mancuso and, as the Fourth District Court points out, is a matter of first impression. See Dorsett v. State, 2013 WL 331602 *5 (Fla. 4th DCA, January 30, 2013).

At the close of the <u>Mancuso</u> opinion, this Court referred the matter to the Supreme Court Committee on Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases for "consideration of an instruction consistent with our holding in this case." In 1995, the Supreme Court Committee recommended a new instruction on "Leaving a Scene of an Accident Involving Death or Injury" based upon the holding in

Mancuso. 665 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1995). The jury instruction parroted the language from Mancuso as it relates to a defendant's knowledge of an injury by using the "knew or should have known" language (prong three of the standard jury instruction). However, the jury instruction also used the same "knew or should have known" language in regard to a defendant's knowledge of being involved in an accident (prong two of the standard jury instruction). This was clear error because the holding in Mancuso reveals that this Court did not approve of the "knew or should have known" language regarding a defendant's knowledge of whether he/she was involved in a crash. Rather, a closer reading of the holding in Mancuso reflects that an essential element under §316.027, Fla. Stat., is knowledge of being involved in an accident and not whether the defendant should have known of being involved in an accident, because "one cannot "willfully" leave an accident without awareness that an accident has occurred." This Court reiterated this position in State v. Dumas, 700 So. 2d 1223, 1225 (Fla. 1997)(emphasis added) were it held:

In *Mancuso*, we determined that knowledge was an essential element of section 316.027 because (1) the statute imposes a more severe penalty for leaving an accident where personal injuries are involved than does a similar statute imposing sanctions where only property damage is involved; and (2) the statute requires a driver to take an affirmative course of action which necessarily requires that the driver be aware of the facts giving rise to the duty. 652 So.2d at 372.

As such, the appropriate *mens rea* needed to convict a defendant under § 316.027, Fla. Stat., is actual knowledge of being involved in an accident. If this Court were to hold that a defendant can be convicted under § 316.027, Fla. Stat., if a defendant "should have known" of being involved in an accident, a defendant, who had no criminal intent, could be convicted of a felony and be sentenced to jail based upon what he/she should have known at the time of the accident (in other words, the proverbial "reasonable man" civil standard of negligence). This flies in the face of the U.S. Constitution, Florida's Constitution and the right to due process, because our criminal system punishes citizens with a jail sentence who have a guilty mind (i.e. the appropriate *mens rea*), and does not punish citizens with a jail sentence based upon what a "reasonable man" would know or do under like circumstances. See e.g., Morissette, 342 U.S. at 250-264.

ii. Petitioner's argument that the standard jury instruction is correct, because this Court approved the instruction is not dispositive of the certified question on appeal.

The crux of the Petitioner's argument is that the "should have known" language in the jury instruction as it relates to knowledge of whether the defendant was in an accident, is correct because it was placed in the Standard Jury Instructions and approved by this Court. However, this Court has held in regard to Standard Jury Instructions that: "the Court will, accordingly, authorize the publication and use of such instructions, but without prejudice to the rights of

any litigant objecting to the use of one or more of such approved forms of instructions." In re: Standard Jury Instructions, 240 So. 2d 472, 473 (Fla. 1970) (emphasis added). Moreover, this Court has further held in regard to the use of Standard Jury Instructions that:

The forms of Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases published by the Florida Bar pursuant to the authority of the Court may be used by the trial judges of this State in charging the jury in every criminal case to the extent that the forms are applicable, unless the trial judge shall determine that an applicable form of instruction is erroneous or inadequate, in which event he shall modify or amend such form or give such other instruction as the trial judge shall determine necessary accurately and sufficiently to instruct the jury in the circumstances of the case.

Id.; see also, Willcox v. State, 258 So. 2d 298, 300 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972) (defendants have the right to question substantive accuracy or validity of an instruction taken verbatim from standard jury instructions in criminal cases as promulgated by the Supreme Court)(emphasis added). Therefore, Standard Jury Instructions should be used to the extent "as may be applicable," and thus, "it does not follow that such instructions must be literally given in each and every case."

State v. Bryan, 287 So. 2d 73, 75 (Fla. 1974). Moreover, this Court's approval of the Standard Jury Instructions is a "general approval" of the "theory and technique involved." Id. As such, Petitioner's reliance on the Standard Jury Instruction's use of the "knew or should have known" language to show that actual knowledge is

not required in regard to a defendant's knowledge of whether he/she was involved in an accident is not dispositive of this issue on appeal.

Moreover, a close reading of the Fourth District Court's opinion and this Court's opinion in Mancuso reflect that two different instructions on the requirement of defendant's knowledge of the accident were proposed to the trial court. See State v. Mancuso, 652 So. 2d 370, 370 (Fla. 1995); Mancuso v. State, 636 So. 2d 753, 754 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Defendant's proposed instruction used the words "knowing" or "knew" in relation to being involved in an accident. Mancuso v. State, 636 So. 2d 753, 754 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). In contrast, the State's proposed instruction use the "knew or should have known" language in relation to being involved in an accident. Id. However, this issue was never appealed in the Mancuso matter, State v. Mancuso, 652 So. 2d 370, 370 (Fla. 1995). Thus, the Fourth District Court and this Court never decided which instruction was correct as to the knowledge requirement of a defendant in relation to being involved in an accident. As such, when the Standard Jury Instruction on § 316.027, Fla. Stat., was presented to this Court for approval, it is Respondent's position that the Committee incorrectly added the "knew or should have known" language in regard to whether a defendant was involved in an accident. In fact, the State in its Initial Brief concedes this by stating that "the Standard Jury Instruction added the requirement that a defendant "knew or should have known" of the accident involving injury."

See I.B. 14. As stated through-out trial and on appeal, the Standard Jury Instruction incorrectly defines the necessary *mens rea* as "knew or should have known that he/she was involved in a crash" in order to convict a defendant under § 316.027, Fla. Stat.

iii. Out-Of-State Cases supports Respondent's position that actual knowledge of the crash is required under §316.027, Fla. Stat.

This Court has held that in "construing a statute modeled after a uniform law, 'it is pertinent to resort to holdings in other jurisdictions where the act is in force." Mancuso, 652 So. 2d at 371 citing Valentine v. Hayes, 102 Fla. 157, 160, 135 So. 538, 540 (1931). See also, 40 Fla. Jur. 2d Statutes §170 (1984). Here, §316.027, Fla. Stat., was modeled after the Uniform Vehicle Code. See Ch. 71-135, at 433, Laws of Fla. Therefore, and as this Court did in Mancuso, this Court can look to other states that construe similar hit and run statutes.

Many out-of-state cases (including Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, California, Idaho, Iowa, Maine, Vermont and Virginia) agree with Respondent's position that a driver must have actual knowledge that he/she was involved an accident in order to convict a defendant for failing to leave a scene of an accident with injury. Specifically, Touchstone v. State, 155 So. 2d 349, 351 (Ala. 1963), holds that a defendant must know that his vehicle was in an accident to be convicted under Alabama's hit and run statute. Touchstone further quotes Herchenbach v.

Commonwealth, 38 S.E. 2d 328, 329 (Va. 1946), by stating that the duty imposed upon a driver of a vehicle involved in an accident is not passive; rather it requires affirmative action which is to stop and give aid. Thus, the Alabama court, as the Virginia court did in Herchenbach, reasoned that: "How can a person perform these affirmative acts unless he knows that his vehicle has struck a person or an object? Knowledge necessarily is an essential element of the crime." Not surprisingly, Mancuso also cites to Herchenbach.

Mancuso also relies upon People v. Holford, 403 P.2d 423 (Cal. 1965), under which the California Supreme Court held that criminal liability attaches to a driver who *knowingly* leaves the scene of an accident. Additionally, in State v. Porras, 610 P.2d 1051 (Ar. Ct. App. 1980), Arizona adopted the reasoning and interpretation of the scienter requirement made by the California court in Holford. Porras, 610 P.2d at 1054.

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